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MAG LL, G rcuit Judge.

W revisit this case for the sixth tinme.! Peter Larson appeals his
conviction of theft of United States' property, 18 U S.C. § 641; retention
of stolen United States' property, 18 U S.C. 8§ 641; failure to file a
custons report when exporting

‘Black Hlls Inst. v. United States Dep't of Justice, 967 F.2d
1237 (8th Gr. 1992) (civil suit regarding ownership of
Tyrannosaurus rex fossil); Black Hlls Inst. v. United States Dep't
of Justice, 978 F.2d 1043 (8th G r. 1992) (Tyrannosaurus rex civil
suit); Black Hlls Inst. v. South Dakota Sch. of Mnes & Tech., 12
F.3d 737 (8th Cr. 1993) (Tyrannosaurus rex civil suit), cert.
denied, 115 S. . 61 (1994); In re Larson, 43 F.3d 410 (8th Cr.
1994) (district judge's refusal to recuse self); Black Hlls Inst.
v. Wllianms, 88 F.3d 614 (8th Cr. 1996) (Tyrannosaurus rex civil
suit).




nmonetary instrunents, 31 U S.C. 8§ 5316(a)(1)(A); and failure to file a
report when inporting nonetary instrunents, 31 U S.C. § 5316(a)(1) (A
Larson's argunents address the sufficiency of the evidence, the scope of
the regulatory definition of nonetary instrunent, the application of the
Sentencing Guidelines, and the sentencing judge' s? failure to recuse
hinself. W affirm

As president and majority stockholder, Larson headed a conmerci al
fossil business, the Black Hlls Institute of Geol ogical Research (the

Institute). The Institute's activities focused on the collection,
preparation, and marketing of fossils. The Institute's nobst notable
success story was the discovery of "Sue," a 65-mllion-year-old
Tyrannosaurus rex fossil. However, wth success canme not only public

notoriety and attention, but also the attention of |aw enforcenent
of ficials.

On May 14, 1992, federal officials raided the Institute to seize
evi dence. Among the fossils seized were crinoid fossils, a narine
i nvertebrate, which Larson had collected fromthe Gallatin National Forest
in Montana, and various fossils fromthe Buffalo Gap National Grasslands
in South Dakot a. Both parcels of land belong to the United States and
Larson had not been authorized to renove the fossils.

In addition, as part of his activities for the Institute, Larson nade
repeated trips to Peru to collect fossils. This collection included
excavation and export of fossilized remains of baleen whales. One such
fossil, "Maya," was sold to a Japanese

2The Honorable Richard H Battey, Chief Judge, United States
District Court for the District of South Dakot a.
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buyer for $225,000. Yet, fossils being exported from Peru were presented
to custons as having scientific value only.

In preparation for a March 1990 trip, Larson w thdrew $15,000 from
the Institute's bank account in order to pay his expenses in Peru,
including the cost of fossil collection. Wen Larson left for Peru on
March 9, 1990, carrying nore than $10,000, he failed to file Custons Form
4790, a Report of International Transportation of Currency or MNbnetary
I nstrunent.

Larson's Institute travel also included a 1991 trip to a Tokyo fossil
show to sell fossils. While in Japan, Larson purchased $31,700 in
travel er's checks. On June 8, 1991, Larson returned to the United States
with the traveler's checks. Larson failed to conplete Custons Form 4790
whi ch must also be subnmitted when inporting nore than $10,000 worth of
nmonetary instrunents into the United States.

Based on the Institute's dinosaur-related activities, the governnent
obtained a thirty-nine count indictnent. Larson was charged with thirty-
six counts. The charges focused on the illegal collection of fossils and
i ncl uded counts of conspiracy, obstruction of justice, theft of United
States' property, and custons viol ations.

During the course of his trial, Larson unsuccessfully attenpted to
have the trial judge recuse hinself. At a status hearing on a possible
pl ea bargain discussed in the nedia, the trial judge expressed di sapproval
of the reported agreenent, calling it a governnent capitulation. In a
subsequent comrunication, the trial judge stated that his comments were
contrary to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(e), which prohibits a
judge's participation in plea agreenent discussions.



However, he declined to recuse hinself. Larson petitioned this Court for
a wit of nmandanus to renove the trial judge, which was deni ed. In re
Larson, 43 F.3d 410 (8th Cir. 1994).

A jury convicted Larson of one count of theft of United States'
property not in excess of $100, one count of retention of stolen United
States' property not in excess of $100, and two counts of failure to file
a custons report when transporting nonetary instrunents. Larson was
sentenced to twenty-four nonths confinenent, two years supervised rel ease,
a fine of $5000, and a special assessnent of $150.

The district court's conputation of Larson's sentence started with
the custons violations. The court began with a base offense | evel of 11
See U S S .G § 2S1.3 (a base offense level of 6 plus the nunber of offense
| evels called for by the value of the funds table in 8§ 2F1.1). The court
then found that the specific offense characteristic in 8§ 2S1.3(b)(1)
applied to Larson. This section dictates an increase by two levels "[i]f
t he defendant knew or believed that the funds were proceeds of unlawfu
activity, or were intended to pronote unlawful activity." US S G 8
2S1.3(b)(1). Next the court found that the § 3B1.1(a) role in the offense
adj ustnent applied. This adjustnent nandates a four |evel increase "[i]f
the defendant was an organizer or |eader of a crimnal activity that
i nvolved five or nore participants or was otherw se extensive." U S S G
8 3Bl.1(a). These conputations result in an adjusted offense |level of 17.

The district court then turned to the property offenses. Retention
of stolen United States' property not in excess of $100 and theft of
government property not in excess of $100 have a base offense | evel of 4.
US S G 8§ 2B1.1. Again the court added four



| evel s pursuant to § 3Bl1.1(a) for Larson's role in the offense. Thus, the
adj usted offense |l evel was 8.

The district court next determ ned that the conbined adjusted of fense
level for multiple counts to be level 17. See U S.S.G § 3D1.4(c).
Finally, looking to the sentencing table, the district court found the
sentencing range to be fromtwenty-four to thirty nonths, given Larson's
crimnal history category of | and his offense |evel of 17. The district
court inposed a sentence of twenty-four nonths.

On appeal, Larson mmkes the following argunents: (1) that his
retention of invertebrate fossils fromforest service | ands was not a crime
in light of forest service regulations pernitting the noncommercial
collection of invertebrate fossils; (2) that he lacked the requisite
knowl edge that it was illegal to take in excess of $10,000 out of the
country without filing a custons report; (3) that he lacked the requisite
know edge that it was illegal to bring in excess of $10,000 in
restrictively endorsed traveler's checks into the country without filing
a custons report; (4) that the requirenment of filing a custons report when
bringing in excess of $10,000 into the country does not apply to traveler's
checks restrictively endorsed; (5) that applying 8 2S1.3(b)(1) of the
United States Sentencing Guidelines, which increases the sentence when
unreported funds are exported for the purpose of illegal activity, was
i mproper because he did not intend to use the funds unlawfully; (6) that
because Larson's role in the offense was not that of the organizer and
| eader of a crimnal activity involving five or nore participants or that
because he was not extensively involved, applying 8 3B1.1 of the Sentencing
Gui delines was inproper; and (7) that the sentencing judge inproperly
refused to recuse hinself following a Rule 11(e) violation



Larson's first three argunents concern the sufficiency of the
evidence. In reviewing a claimof insufficiency of the evidence, we ask
"whether, after viewing the evidence in the light nost favorable to the
prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential
el enents of the crinme beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443

U S 307, 319 (1979) (enphasis in the original). Al reasonable inferences
are also drawn in favor of the prosecution. United States v. Perkins, 94
F.3d 429, 436 (8th Cir. 1996), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 1004 (1997).

Larson's first argunment uses a 1986 Forest Service regulation
permtting the noncommercial harvesting of invertebrate fossils. See 51
Fed. Reg. 30355-356 (1986), codified at 36 CF.R 8§ 261.9(i) (1987)
Larson clains that this regulation renders his retention of invertebrate

fossils, harvested in 1984 and 1985, not a crine as a matter of |aw
Assuming that this regulation benefits Larson, Larson's argunent hinges on
his fossil harvesting having been noncommercial. Thus, Larson contends
that, though he renoved the harvested fossils, there is not sufficient
evidence that his fossil harvesting was commercial. W find this argunent
to be nmeritless.

Clearly, a rational trier of fact could have found beyond a
reasonabl e doubt that Larson renoved the fossils for comercial purposes.
Larson was the head of a commercial fossil business. The Institute was
organi zed to sell fossils such as these. The fossils Larson harvested were
stored in the Institute's business warehouse. The jury could properly have
relied on this evidence to infer that the fossils were taken by Larson for
a commercial purpose.



Next, Larson argues that the governnent failed to neet its burden of
showi ng that Larson possessed the know edge that it was illegal to take in
excess of $10,000 out of the country without filing Custons Form 4790. See
Ratzlaf v. United States, 510 U S. 135, 137 (1994) (to establish that
defendant willfully violated reporting statute, the prosecution nust prove

def endant acted with know edge that conduct was unlawful).® W concl ude
that there was sufficient evidence to show that Larson had the requisite
know edge.

The record reveals that Larson is an experienced traveler. Upon re-
entry into this country froma trip abroad, travelers are routinely given
a Custons Form 6059B. This formdetails the requirenent of filing a report
on Custons Form 4790 when taking out of or bringing into the United States
nore than $10,000. Prior to his trip to Peru in 1990, Larson had travel ed
to South Anerica in 1985, 1987, and 1989. These prior trips raise the
strong inference that Larson had repeatedly signed Custons Form 6059B
declaring that he had read it. This evidence is sufficient for a
reasonable jury to conclude that Larson was aware of the reporting
requirenent.

Larson also argues that the governnent has not net its burden of
showi ng that he knew that it was illegal to bring nore than $10,000 in
traveler's checks in any forminto the country without filing a custons
report. Ratzlaf, 510 U S. at 137 (know edge requirenent). As discussed
above, there was sufficient evidence

3The specific reporting statute interpreted by the Ratzl af
Court, 31 U S.C 8§ 5322(a), was subsequently anended by Congress to
delete the wilfulness requirenent. See United States v. Giffin,
84 F.3d 912, 925 (7th Gr.) (noting change in law), cert. denied,
117 S. C. 495 (1996); United States v. Zehrbach, 47 F.3d 1252,
1262 n.7 (3d Gr. 1995) (sane).
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for any reasonable jury to conclude that Larson, as an experienced
international traveler, had repeatedly conpleted Custons Form 6059B and was
aware of its contents. Form 6059B explicitly states that the reporting
requirenment applies to traveler's checks. See Tr. EX. 443 (reporting
requirenent applies to "nore than $10,000 (U.S. or foreign equivalent, or
a conmbination of the two) in coin, currency, traveler's checks or bearer

instrunents such as noney orders, checks, stocks or bonds" (enphasis
added)), reprinted in Appellee's Add. at 3-4.

Custons Form 6059B does not distinguish between restrictively and
nonrestrictively endorsed traveler's checks. Form 6059B sinply lists
"traveler's checks." Therefore, there is sufficient evidence for a
reasonable jury to conclude that Larson was aware that the reporting
requi renent applied to all traveler's checks whether restrictively endorsed
or not.

Larson not only argues that he did not have the requisite know edge
that the reporting requirenent applied to all traveler's checks, he further
argues that the requirenent itself does not apply to restrictively endorsed
travel er's checks. W find that the reporting requirenent applies to
traveler's checks in any form

The reporting requirenent applies to "nobnetary instrunents.” 31
U S.C 8§ 5316(a)(1). The 1990 Code of Federal Regul ations defined nonetary
instrunents to include traveler's checks in any form See 31 CF.R §
103.11(m (1990).“4 The plain neaning of "in

31 CF.R 8§ 103.11(m (1990) provides:

(m Mnetary instrunments. (1) Mnetary instrunents
i ncl ude:

(1) Currency;

(1i) Traveler's checks in any form

(tit) Al negotiable instrunments (including personal
checks, business checks, official bank checks, cashier's
checks, third-party checks, prom ssory notes (as that termis
defined in the Uniform Commercial Code), and noney orders)
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any fornf includes traveler's checks, whether restrictively endorsed or
not .

W al so reject Larson's argunent that because "nonetary instrunent”
is defined as including both traveler's checks and "all negotiable
instrunments,” 31 CF.R § 103.11(m(iii), that the traveler's checks
i ncluded nust be negotiable. The definition of nonetary instrunent also
includes currency, 31 CF. R 8§ 103.11(m (i), which is not a negotiable
instrument. Thus, the reference to "all negotiable instrunents,” 31 CF. R
8 103.11(m(iii), does not linmt the other sections enunerated within the
definition of nonetary instrunent. Second, another provision of the
regul ations provides for an exenption for a restrictively endorsed
traveler's check "that is in the collection and reconciliation process
after the traveler's check has been negotiated.”" 31 C.F.R 8§ 103.23(c)(8)
(1990). If we were to accept Larson's contention that the reporting
requi rement does not apply to restrictively endorsed traveler's checks,
this provision

that are either in bearer form endorsed wthout restriction,
made out to a fictitious payee (for the purpose of 8§ 103.23),
or otherwse in such form that title thereto passes upon
delivery;

(iv) Incomplete instruments (including personal
checks, business checks, official bank checks, cashier's
checks, third-party checks, prom ssory notes (as that
termis defined in the Uniform Comrercial Code), and
noney orders) signed but with the payee's name omtt ed;
and

(v) Securities or stock in bearer formor otherw se
in such formthat title thereto passes upon delivery.

(2) Monetary instrunments do not include warehouse
recei pts or bills of |ading.

-0-



woul d be rendered superfluous. Accordingly, we reject this interpretation
See Dryden v. Lou Budke's Arrow Fin. Co., 661 F.2d 1186, 1189 (8th GCir.
1981) (per curian) (rejecting interpretation which would render a

regul ation's provision surplusage).

W conclude that the reporting requirenent found in 31 US. C
8 b5316(a)(1) applies to traveler's checks in any form whether
restrictively endorsed or not.

V.

Larson's next set of argunents addresses the application of the
Sent enci ng Cui del i nes. W find no errors in the district court's
application of the guidelines.

Section 2S1.3(b) lists specific offense characteristics for
sentencing a defendant for failing to file currency and nonetary instrunent
reports. U S S G 8§ 251.3(b) (1995). Subsection (b)(1) provides for a two
| evel increase where the funds were known to be the proceeds of unl awful
activity or intended to pronote unlawful activity. U S. S.G § 2S1.3(b)(1)
(1995). Here, the district court nade two findings of intent to pronote
unl awful activity. By a preponderance of the evidence, the court found
both that Larson intended the funds to: (1) pronote the unlawful
exportation of fossils from Peru; and (2) pronote an unl awful conspiracy
to take fossils fromUnited States' public lands.® See Tr. of Evidentiary

°For sentencing purposes, the district court found that a
conspiracy existed. The court nmade this finding despite the fact
that the jury was unable to agree on the conspiracy charge. As the
district court states:

Much has been said about the hung counts. The jury was
unable to agree. | referred to them briefly and in
| ooking at all of the evidence in this case, the Court
does find that there was this conspiracy to violate
federal |aw

Tr. of Evidentiary Hr'g at 61. See also Supp. Sentencing Mem at
8 ("The Court has found by a preponderance of the evidence that a
conspiracy existed . . . .").
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H'g at 63-64 ("[T]here are two findings that the Court nmakes in this case
concerning 2S1.3(b)(1), to increase the offense level by two levels.");
Supp. Sentencing Mem at 5 (noting that "[t]he funds were used to pronote
the conspiratorial conduct of the illegal renmoval of fossils frompublic
| ands").®

Reviewing this finding for clear error, we uphold the district
court's finding that a preponderance of the evidence denonstrates
that Larson was involved in a conspiracy to violate federal |aw
United States v. Casares-Cardenas, 14 F.3d 1283, 1288 (8th Cr.)
("Factual questions regarding sentencing decisions are, of course,
reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard."), cert. denied, 115
S. C. 147 (1994). Certainly, the district court can find a
conspiracy by a preponderance of the evidence, even after the jury
has failed to agree on a simlar finding applying the higher beyond
a reasonabl e doubt standard. See United States v. Watts, 117 S
Ct. 633, 638 (1997) (per curiam (sentencing court may consider
acquitted conduct if it has been proven by a preponderance of
evi dence) .

8In response to Larson's Mtion to Suppl emrent the Record, his
nmotion for release, and the governnent's response, this Court
remanded the case to the district court for the followwng limted
pur poses:

1. To review and determne the validity of the
Peruvian violation wth respect to the Sentencing
GQuidelines applied in this case; and

2. To reconcile the jury's failure to agree on the
conspiracy charged in Count | of the indictnment with the
finding of an ongoing conspiracy as discussed in the
Suppl enental Sentencing Menorandum filed January 29,
1996.

Order of Dec. 23, 1996 at 1. This Court is appreciative of the
district court's clarification of its own previous findings.
However, in affirmng the district court, this Court does not rely
on any new findings which may have been nmade within the district
court's Response To Limted Remand O der

-11-



On appeal, Larson mistakenly conbines the district court's two
findings of fact, characterizing the district court's findings, in
pertinent part, as:

[T] hat Peter Larson went to Peru to carry on this "conspiracy,"
even though there was absolutely no evidence, whatsoever, that
Peter Larson, or any other person, for that matter, had any
idea that the law of Peru precluded the excavation of fossils,
or any evidence that the alleged U S. "conspiracy" ever
extended its m sdeneanor tentacles to Peru.

Appel lant's Br. at 35. However, the district court nade two distinct
factual findings of intent, either of which could sustain the application
of § 2S1.3(b)(1). Cf. United States v. Smith, 905 F.2d 1296, 1299-1300
(9th Cr. 1990) (affirmng sentencing based on district court's
alternative, but not inconsistent, fact finding that gun was inoperable
revol ver or pellet gun). Because the district court's finding that Larson
intended to pronote the conspiracy is sufficient to support the application
of &8 2S1.3(b)(1), we need not reach the question of whether Larson's
exportation of fossils fromPeru was unl awful under Peruvian |aw.’

We conclude that the district court's finding that Larson intended
the funds to pronote an unl awful conspiracy was not clear

"There is no challenge to the fact that the funds were
intended to be used to export fossils fromPeru. Rather, the issue
at sentencing was whet her the export of fossils was unlawful under
Peruvian law. The determ nation of foreign law is a question of
| aw t hat can be established using any rel evant source. See Fed. R
Ctim P. 26.1; see also Fed. R Cv. P. 44.1. The district court
found that when Larson traveled to Peru in 1990, commerci al
exportation of fossils was an unlawful activity. This finding was
based primarily on conflicting expert testinony regarding the
meani ng of Peruvian Law No. 24047. See Tr. of Evidentiary Hr'g at
7-8, 32-33, 62-63; Supp. Sentencing Mem at 9-10.
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error. United States v. Mtchell, 31 F.3d 628, 633 (8th Gr. 1994)
(standard of review). The conspiracy involved the Institute's illega

appropriation of fossils from United States' public |ands. There is
sufficient evidence to conclude, for both Larson's exportation of funds to
Peru, which were then used to acquire fossils that were later sold, and
Larson's direct inportation of funds from Japan, were intended by Larson
to produce proceeds for the Institute that would pronote its ongoing
conspiratorial enterprise. Therefore, because the funds that Larson failed
to report were to aid an unlawful conspiracy, the two | evel increase called
for by 8 2S1.3(b)(1) of the Sentencing CQuidelines was properly appli ed.

Larson next argues that the district court inproperly applied
Sentencing Quideline 8§ 3Bl1.1(a). Section 3Bl1.1 |ists adjustnents based on
the defendant's role in the offense. Subsection (a) provides for a four
| evel increase where the defendant's role was that of an organizer or
| eader of a crinmnal activity that involved five or nore participants or
was ot herwi se extensive. See U S. S.G § 3Bl1.1(a).

The district court's interpretation of the Sentencing GQuidelines is
a question of law subject to de novo review, while its factua
determ nations are subject to reviewonly for clear error. United States
v. Lanere, 980 F.2d 506, 510 (8th GCr. 1992). W find that, as the head
of the business, Larson's role inthe illegal fossil related activities was

that of an organizer or |eader of five or nobre participants or was
ot herw se extensive. The application of 8§ 3B1.1(a) was therefore proper.?8

8Larson further clainms that, as applied to him anendnent 345
to the Introductory Commentary of Chapter 3, Article B of the
Sentencing CGuidelines violates the Ex Post Facto clause of the
Consti tution. US Const. art. |, 8 9, cl. 3. The Novenber 1,
1990 anendment calls for the consideration of all conduct in
determning a defendant's role in an offense, not just the el enents
and acts cited in the count of conviction. See U S S. G anend.
345. |If a change in the Sentencing Guidelines does not anmount to
a substantive change in law, but nerely restates or clarifies
existing |law, the change does not offend ex post facto concerns.
See United States v. Cooper, 35 F.3d 1248, 1252 (8th Cr. 1994),
cert. granted & opinion vacated, 115 S. C. 1820 (1995), prior
opinion reinstated, 63 F.3d 761, 763 (8th Cr. 1995) (per curiam,
cert. denied, 116 S. C. 1548 (1996). Because anendnent 345 only
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V.

Finally, Larson argues that the district court erred when it refused
to recuse itself. W disagree

To mandate recusal of a judge because of opinions fornmed in the
course of proceedings, a judge nust display such a deep-seated favoritism
or antagonism that fair judgenent is inpossible. See Liteky v. United
States, 510 U.S. 540, 555 (1994). "Thus, judicial remarks during the
course of a trial that are critical or disapproving of, or even hostile to,

counsel, the parties, or their cases, ordinarily do not support a bias or
partiality challenge." |d.

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(e) states that attorneys for
each side may engage in discussions with a view toward reaching a plea
agreenent and that the court shall not participate in these discussions.
"Courts have consistently interpreted Rule 11(e) as a bright line rule
barring any court participation in the plea

clarifies the interpretation of 8 3B1.1, it is not a substantive
change in the guideline. United States v. Mntagque, 29 F. 3d 317,
324 n.5 (7th Cr. 1994); United States v. Mr, 919 F. 2d 940, 945
(5th Gr. 1990). Thus, applying the anmendnent to conduct before
its adoption does not violate the Ex Post Facto cl ause. Uni t ed
States v. Scarano, 975 F.2d 580, 587 (9th Gr. 1992); contra United
States v. Saucedo, 950 F.2d 1508, 1513-16 (10th G r. 1991).
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bargai ning process." 1n Re Larson, 43 F.3d at 415 (citing United States
v. O esen, 920 F.2d 538, 540 (8th Cr. 1990)).

Even assuning that the district court was correct that its comments
violated Rule 11(e), we do not find that the violation of Rule 11(e) in
this case nmandated a new sentencing judge. Recusal is required only if the
violation is such that the sentencing judge has displayed such a deep-
seated favoritism or antagonism that fair judgnent is inpossible. See
Liteky, 510 U.S. at 555. Here, we do not find the requisite |evel of bias
or partiality.

Larson cites United States v. Adams, 634 F.2d 830 (5th Cr. 1981),
in support of his argunent that a Rule 11(e) violation nandates a new tria
judge for sentencing.® However, Adans is distinguishable. In Adans, the
trial judge participated in the plea agreenent discussions up to the point
of seem ngly preapproving the agreenent and the trial judge becane upset
when the plea bargain was not taken. [|d. at 832-33. In this case, the
trial court did not participate to any conparabl e degree. Furthernore, the
Fifth Circuit in Adams did not find that constitutionally prohibited
prejudice required a new sentencing judge; rather, that court used its
supervi sory power over the |ower federal court. |d. at 836.

° n this Court's rejection of defendant's petition for a wit
of mandanus, Adans was noted for the proposition that, assumng a
violation of Rule 11(e), the defendant could request a different
sentencing judge. See In Re Larson, 43 F.3d at 416 n.7. However,
this invitation to request a new sentencing judge was not a
declaration of an entitlenent to a new sentenci ng judge.

-15-



VI .

For the above reasons, the judgnent of the district court is
af firned.

BEAM GCircuit Judge, concurring and di ssenting.

| amtroubled by the result we reach in this case. Nonet hel ess,
reluctantly concur in the court’s opinion affirmng the guilt phase of the
trial, although, in ny view, the convictions barely survive reasonable
anal ysis on both the law and the facts. | do believe, however, that the
sentencing process was fatally flawed and shoul d be reversed. Accordingly,
I concur in part and dissent in part.

As the court notes, this case had its genesis in a quarrel over the
care, custody and ownership of the 65-mllion-year-old remains of a
tyrannosaurus rex naned “Sue” discovered in 1990 on a South Dakota ranch
Black Hills Inst. of Geological Research v. United States Dep’t of Justice,
967 F.2d 1237, 1238-39 (8th Cir. 1992) (Black Hills I). The roots of the
di spute appear to extend into the nmurky depths of an earlier and ongoing

argunent between and anong public, academ ¢ and commercial collectors and
curators vying for control of archaeological remains worldw de. The
crimnal prosecutorial armof the United States was apparently recruited
to participate in this continuing battle and it, in turn, enlisted the aid
of the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the South Dakota National Quard.
Id. at 1239. This resulted in an arned invasion of the Institute's
headquarters in HIIl Gty, South Dakota, designed to carry out a search for
and acconplish the seizure of Sue. |d.
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The crimnal act alleged at that tine was a violation of the
Antiquities Act, 16 U S.C. § 433. Black Hlls Inst. of Geological Research
V. United States Dep't of Justice, 978 F.2d 1043, 1044 (8th Cir. 1992)
(Black Hlls 11). The maxi num puni shnent for violating the Antiquities Act
is a $500 fine and ninety days inprisonment. 16 U. S.C. § 433. Thi s
purported transgression seens to have |ong since been forgotten, and Sue

is nowhere to be found within the four corners of the present crimnal
prosecuti on.

A bitter legal battle between the United States and the Institute
over ownership of Sue continued for several years with this court acting
as part-tinme unpire. Black Hills Inst. of Geological Research v. South
Dakota Sch. of Mnes & Tech., 12 F.3d 737 (8th Cir. 1993) (Black Hills
L11). Athough not a part of the record, press reports indicate that the
beneficial owner of the land upon which the discovery was nade has now
energed triunphant, and he proposes to auction Sue off to the highest
bi dder, public, private, academ c or collector through the good offices of
the fabl ed Sotheby’'s Auction House in New York, New York. The estinated
value is in the area of one nillion dollars.® Ml colmW Browne, “Well-
Preserved T. Rex Bones May Get $1 MIlion at Auction,” NY. Tines, Nov. 16,
1996 at 1, 8.

At the sane tine, the crimnal indictment |inped along until late
1994 when a Sout h Dakota newspaper disclosed that the case was about to be
concl uded through a plea agreenent favorable to

Thi s sum woul d apparently be “net” the cost of excavation of
the fossil, which cost purportedly anmounted to $209,000. The | and
owner also received and apparently retained $5,6,000 paid by the
Institute for permssion to excavate. W denied a claim by the
Institute for the excavation costs by affirmng the district
court’s disallowance of an equitable or statutory lien for this
anount. Black Hills Inst. of Geological Research v. WIllians, 88
F.3d 614 (8th Cr. 1996) (Black Hills V).
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Larson. In re Larson, 43 F.3d 410, 411 (8th Cr. 1994) (Black Hills 1V).
At that point, the trial judge, in admtted violation of Federal Rule of

Crimnal Procedure 11(e), upset progress toward the consummation of the
apparent arrangenment, describing it, in part, (based on what the judge saw
in the newspaper) as a “capitulation by the governnent.” 1d. This, of
course, sent the federal prosecutors scurrying back to the draw ng board.
The recent thirty-nine count prosecution resulted, with thirty-six of the
counts directed at Larson. After trial, the jury convicted Larson of two
m nor counts of theft involving property of |ess than $100 in val ue and two
rather exotic custons violations both involving activities carried out in
foreign nations: one occurring prior to the discovery of Sue and one prior
to the search of the Institute's headquarters.

Whil e the matter probably shoul d have been di sposed of by the plea
agreenent reported in the press, | now reluctantly agree with the court
that, given the test we nust apply at this point, United States v.
Shoffner, 71 F.3d 1429, 1433 (8th Gr. 1995) (review nust be in |ight nost
favorable to verdict); United States v. Jenkins, 78 F.3d 1283, 1287 (8th
Gr. 1996) (reverse only if a jury nmust have entertai ned reasonabl e doubt),

there is enough credible and adm ssible evidence to affirmthe convictions
even though they are based upon hotly di sputed, barely viable and generally
unenforced |l egal theories. |Indeed, as correctly pointed out in Larson's
brief, good faith disagreenent exists as to the proper interpretation of
both the foreign law i nvol ved and the federal statutes and rul es enforced
in this prosecution.

| disagree, however, with the sentence inposed. 1In its sentencing
guideline calculations, the trial court seens to have generously exercised
its discretion to enhance the penalties arising from the defendant’s
participation in relatively mnor
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crinmes. Further, the weighty sentence was, in ny view, inappropriate given
t he questionabl e presentations at trial concerning the existence of and the
substance of the Peruvian |aw at issue. Overall, the penalty process
resulted in a prison sentence well above that called for given the mnim
and uncertain nature of the offenses, especially the theft offenses
i nvol ving property of less than $100 in val ue. !

Sent enci ng enhancenents based on uncharged or acquitted conduct, as
in this case, nust rely on behavior that is (1) proven by a preponderance
of the evidence and (2) part of the “relevant conduct” of the offense of
conviction. A review of the trial record shows that the rulings survive
the evidentiary standard, but fail the nexus requirenent.

Al though acquitted of all conspiracy allegations by the jury, the
district judge found, for sentencing purposes, that a conspiracy to coll ect
fossils from federal |and existed.'? Sentencing Tr. at 30. Al of the
enhancenents flow fromthis finding. Since it is reversible error to fai
to i mpose applicabl e enhancenents, Hall v. United States, 46 F.3d 855, 859
(8th Cir. 1995), it is difficult to evaluate the enhancenents wi thout

addressing the predicate finding of conspiracy.

"The probation officer’s sentencing guideline calculation for
the trial court, nmade via the presentence report, proposed no
enhancenent for Larson’s role in the offense and no enhancenent for
any purported obstruction of justice, leading to an offense |evel
no hi gher than 12, which, in turn, provided for a sentence of from
10 to 16 nonths with the option of one half of the tinme being
served under supervised release. | agree with this nore m ni nmal
anal ysis contained in the presentence report.

12The judge’s exact words were that he found “based upon the
greater weight of the evidence, a conspiracy . . . .” Sentencing
Tr. at 30. Although he did not use the term “preponderance,”
assune that the judge' s expression is equival ent.

-19-



While ny review of the transcript |eft ne convinced that there was
no conspiracy, there was sone evi dence supporting the governnent’'s theory.
Furtherrmore, | have not |ocated a case reversing a sentenci ng enhancenent
on the grounds that the acquitted conduct was insufficiently proven. In
this case, however, there seens to have been s one predisposition to find
that a conspiracy did, indeed exist. Tr. of H'g at 26-27 (Sept. 21, 1994)
(coments regardi ng pl ea bargain reported by press).

The enhancenents were then inposed on the grounds that the custons
violations®® in sonme way advanced this judge-found conspiracy. Although
rel evant conduct is defined broadly, U S. Sentencing Quidelines Mnua
(“Quidelines”) § 1B1.3(a)(2), the concept is not without limts. Ofenses

constituting part of a comon schene or plan nust be substantially
connected to each other by at |east one common factor, such as commobn
victins, common acconplices, common purposes, or simlar nodus operandi.’”
United States v. Sheahan, 31 F.3d 595, 599 (8th Cir. 1994) (quoting
Guidelines 8§ 1B1.3, coment (n.9)). This determination is reviewed for

clear error. United States v. Balano, 8 F.3d 629, 630 (8th Cr. 1993).

The only Eighth Crcuit case exploring the limts of 1Bl1.3(a)(2) is
United States v. Ballew, 40 F.3d 936 (8th Cr. 1994). Ballew was convicted
of wire and mail fraud for falsely reporting to his insurance carrier that

his truck was stolen. I nvestigation of the fraud revealed Ballews
i nvol venent in several autonobile thefts. Sone parts from stolen vehicles
had been put

BThe only enhancenents at issue are those attached to Counts
XX and XXX (the custons violations). Counts Il and VIl added no
units to Larson’s conbined offense |level and so did not increase
his sentence. See U S. Sentencing CGuidelines Manual 8 3Dl1.4 and
Evidentiary H’'g at 3 (Jan. 16, 1996).
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into the truck. The district court relied on the thefts to inpose a five-
| evel increase in Ballew s base offense level. W affirned the sentence,
reasoning that Ballew s use of parts fromthe stol en vehicl es disguised the

truck so he could continue using it. 1d. at 943. |n dissent, Judge Heaney
argued that “the asserted connection is too tenuous to bind together these
two discreet, identifiable units of crinme into a single continuing
offense.” 1d. at 945.

Even if Ballew is correctly decided, the nexus between the
convictions and the enhancenents in Larson's case is considerably nore
t enuous.

Section 3Bl1.1(a) calls for a four-level increase for a defendant’'s
| eadership role. The district court did name five conspirators,
Evidentiary H'g at 64-65 (Jan. 16, 1996), but only Larson and his
girlfriend were present for the actual custons violations. The court does
not address this issue at all; it sinply asserts that the |eadership
enhancenent was appropriate because Larson was a principal of the
Institute. Ante at 13.

Simlarly, section 2Sl1.3(b)(1) adds two |evels when the defendant
knew the funds were proceeds of unlawful activity or were intended to
pronote unlawful activity. Both the district court and this court assert
that this enhancenent was appropriate because the funds fromthe custons
violations were purportedly intended to aid the United States conspiracy.

The vast mpjority of section 2S1.3(b)(1) cases involve the use of
drug proceeds. E.g., United States v. Mtchell, 31 F.3d 628, 633 (8th Crr.
1994). There is only one case applying a 2S1.3(b) (1) enhancenent based on

the prospective use of funds. In United States v. Packer, 70 F.3d 357, 361
(5th Gr. 1995), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 75 (1996), the defendant planned
to use the funds in
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gquestion to support hinself and his girlfriend in their flight to avoid her
arrest. The court affirnmed because the whol e purpose of the transactions
was the financing of the flight. 1d.

Unli ke Packer, the governnent here provided no evidence about
Larson’s plans for the noney. The only arguable nexus between the trips
and the fossil conspiracy is the general business done by the Institute.
The exhibits do denonstrate that the Japanese travelers’ checks were
deposited into the Institute’'s account and the Peruvian travel ers’ checks
were purchased with Institute noney. One defendant did testify that the
busi ness was conducted to “support our, | guess, habit of collecting”
fossils. Trial Tr. at 2902. These general connections were all that was
establ i shed under even the nobst charitable reading of the record. This
stretches the concept of relevant conduct well beyond Ballew  Further,
there was no evidence at all about either the intended or the actual use

of these noni es.

Accordingly, | would affirm the convictions but, given the Rule
11(e) violation, | would remand the case to the district court for
resentenci ng before another judge. W noted in our opinion in Black Hills
LV that precedent supports sentencing by a different judge under these sane
circunstances. 43 F.3d at 416, n.7 (citing United States v. Adans, 634
F.2d 830, 835-54 (5th Gr. Unit A Jan. 1981)). Indeed, the decision by the
court to deny Larson's request for recusal of the trial judge seens to run

contra to our recent decision in United States v. Washi ngton, No. 96-2586

(8th Cir. Mar. 24, 1997). |In Washington we stated:

Rule 11(e)(1) of the Federal Rules of Crimnal Procedure
provides that the district court “shall not participate” in any
di scussions concerning a possible plea agreenent. This is an
“absol ute prohibition.” United States v. Adans, 634 F.2d 830,
835 (5th Cir. 1981).
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[Rule 11(e)(1)] also furthers “the sound principle that the
interests of justice are best served if the judge renai ns al oof
fromall discussions prelinmnary to the determination of guilt
or innocence so that his inpartiality and objectivity shall not
be open to any question or suspicion when it becones his duty
to inpose sentence.” United States v. Werker, 535 F.2d 198

203 (2d CGr. 1976); accord Barrett, 982 F.2d at 195; Adans, 634
F.2d at 840.

Id. slip op. at 6-7.

I n WAshi ngton, the court construed our earlier opinionin Black Hills
LV and did not find “plain error” when the trial judge, who had also
acknow edged a Rule 11(e)(1) violation, failed to recuse hinself sua sponte
fromthe sentenci ng phase of the trial. 1d. slip op. at 7-8. However, the
court, by inference, seens to have held that a “request [for] a different
sentenci ng judge” by Washi ngton would have nade recusal mandatory. |d.
In this case, Larson tinely demanded the recusal of the trial judge citing,
inter alia, our Adans footnote in Black Hlls IV as authority for the
request. Appellant’s App. at 57-58. Thus, under our decisions in Black

Hlls IV and Washington, denial of Larson’s notion for recusal was
reversible error.

Accordingly, | concur in that part of the court’s opinion affirmng

t he conviction. | dissent from the court’s view that the sentencing
procedure and the sentence were within the established aw of this circuit.
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